
FINANCIAL INDUSTRY REGULATORY AUTHORITY 
LETTER OF ACCEPTANCE, WAIVER AND CONSENT 

NO. 2018057175001 

TO: Department of Enforcement 
Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (FINRA) 

RE: Steven T. Yellen, Respondent 
General Securities Representative 
CRD No. 1281663 

Pursuant to FINRA Rule 9216 of FINRA's Code of Procedure, Respondent Steven T. Yellen 
submits this Letter of Acceptance, Waiver and Consent (AWC) for the purpose of proposing a 
settlement of the alleged rule violations described below. This AWC is submitted on the 
condition that, if accepted, FINRA will not bring any future actions against Respondent alleging 
violations based on the same factual findings described herein. 

I. 

ACCEPTANCE AND CONSENT 

A. Respondent hereby accepts and consents, without admitting or denying the findings, and 
solely for the purposes of this proceeding and any other proceeding brought by or on 
behalf of FINRA, or to which FINRA is a party, prior to a hearing and without an 
adjudication of any issue of law or fact, to the entry of the following findings by FINRA: 

BACKGROUND 

Yellen first became registered with FINRA in August 1984 as a General Securities 
Representative ("GS") of Morgan Stanley (f/k/a Morgan Stanley DW Inc.), a FINRA 
member firm. Yellen remained registered with Morgan Stanley as a GS until February 9, 
2016. On February 9, 2016, Morgan Stanley filed a Uniform Termination Notice for 
Securities Industry Registration ("Form U5") terminating Yellen's registration with the 
Firm. From March 7, 2016 through January 25, 2018, Yellen was registered with FINRA 
as a GS with Ameriprise Financial Services, Inc. ("Ameriprise"). Yellen is not currently 
associated with a FINRA member firm or registered with FINRA, but remains subject to 
the jurisdiction of FINRA, pursuant to Article V, Section 4 of FINRA's By-Laws, which 
provides for a two-year period of retained jurisdiction over formerly registered persons. 

RELEVANT DISCIPLINARY HISTORY 

Respondent does not have any disciplinary history with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission, any state securities regulators, FINRA, or any other self-regulatory 
organization. 



OVERVIEW 

From March 2013 through December 2015, Yellen exercised discretion while associated 
with Morgan Stanley in one of Customer A's accounts without written authorization or 
acceptance of the account as a discretionary account in violation of NASD Rule 2510(b) 
and FINRA Rule 2010. 

Yellen also established a second account for Customer A at Morgan Stanley, funded the 
account with a transfer from Customer A's original account, and placed two trades in the 
second account — all without Customer A's knowledge or authorization and in violation 
of FINRA Rule 2010. 

After Yellen associated with Ameriprise, Yellen again engaged in unauthorized trading 
from June 2016 to November 2017. Specifically, Yellen entered 16 trades for 10 
customers that were beyond the option trading risk levels authorized by the customers in 
violation of FINRA Rule 2010. 

Furthermore, between June and November 2016, Yellen mismarked 319 options order 
tickets as "unsolicited" when they were solicited, causing Ameriprise's books and records 
to be inaccurate, in violation of FINRA Rules 4511 and 2010. 

Finally, in March 2016 when Yellen moved to Ameriprise, he took with him non-public 
personal customer information regarding his Morgan Stanley customers, without the 
customers' or Morgan Stanley's consent. As a result, Yellen violated FINRA Rule 2010 
by causing Morgan Stanley to violate the SEC's Regulation S-P: Privacy of Consumer 
Financial Information and Safeguarding Personal Information ("Regulation S-P"). 

FACTS AND VIOLATIVE CONDUCT 

1. Unauthorized Use of Discretion 

NASD Rule 2510(b) provides that: "No member or registered representative shall 
exercise any discretionary power in a customer's account unless such customer has given 
prior written authorization to a stated individual or individuals and the account has been 
accepted by the member, as evidenced in writing by the member or the partner, officer or 
manager, duly designated by the member, in accordance with Rule 3010." Specific 
advance authorization and approval is important to assure a firm that the trading is being 
done with the consent of the customer and to alert the firm that extra oversight of the 
sales representative's handling of the account may be necessary to protect against 
improper or unsuitable trading. 

FINRA Rule 2010 provides that a member, in the conduct of its business, shall observe 
high standards of commercial honor and just and equitable principles of trade. A 
violation of NASD Rule 2510(b) is also a violation of FINRA Rule 2010. 
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From March 2013 through December 2015, Yellen improperly exercised discretion to 
place 14 trades in Customer A's account at Morgan Stanley. Although Customer A had 
given Yellen implied authority to exercise discretion in her account, she did not provide 
prior written authorization for Yellen to exercise discretion, and Customer A's account 
was never accepted as a discretionary account by Morgan Stanley. In connection with 
this violation, between March 2013 and December 2015, Yellen falsely completed three 
annual compliance questionnaires when he denied having any accounts in which business 
was transacted on a discretionary basis. 

By virtue of the foregoing, Respondent violated NASD Rule 2510(b) and FINRA Rule 
2010. 

2. Unauthorized Trading 

FINRA Rule 2010 requires each FINRA member and its associated persons to observe 
high standards of commercial honor and just and equitable principles of trade. A 
registered representative's execution of a trade without customer authorization violates 
FINRA Rule 2010. 

From May 2015 to November 2017, Yellen engaged in unauthorized trading. First, while 
associated with Morgan Stanley, he opened a second account for Customer A without her 
knowledge or authorization. Six months after opening the second account, he made an 
unauthorized transfer of $30,000 from her original account to the second account and 
used the funds to execute two unauthorized transactions in the account. Customer A was 
unaware of the existence of the second account or the transactions in the second account 
and never provided Yellen with authorization to engage in these transactions. Morgan 
Stanley reimbursed Customer A for the fees she incurred in connection with the 
unauthorized trades. 

Second, after Yellen left Morgan Stanley and became associated with Ameriprise, he 
continued to engage in unauthorized trading. Several of Yellen's customers signed new 
account documentation regarding options trading. The new account documentation 
specified the risk level of the options trading that the customers authorized. In 16 
instances, Yellen executed trades in 10 customer accounts that exceeded the risk levels 
that the customers had authorized in their option forms. Yellen did not obtain 
authorization from Customer A at Morgan Stanley or from his Ameriprise customers to 
engage in these transactions. Although the customers suffered no financial harm, 
Yellen's actions exposed the customers to the risk of substantial loss.' 

By virtue of the foregoing, Respondent violated FINRA Rule 2010. 

1  Morgan Stanley settled with Customer A; Ameriprise contacted the affected customers and cancelled the 
unauthorized options trades or purchased the underlying options with customer approval. 
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3. Books and Records 

FINRA Rule 4511 provides that, "Members shall make and preserve books and records 
as required under the FINRA rules, the Exchange Act and the applicable Exchange Act 
rules." SEA Rule 17a3 requires firms to make a record of "each brokerage order, and of 
any other instruction, given or received for the purchase or sale of securities, whether 
executed or unexecuted." This record "shall show the terms and conditions of the order 
or instructions," which necessarily encompasses whether the order was solicited. A 
registered representative who mismarks an order as unsolicited therefore causes a firm to 
create an inaccurate record, in violation of FINRA Rules 4511 and 2010. 

Between June 23, 2016 and November 2, 2016, Yellen mismarked 319 options order 
tickets as unsolicited when, in fact, he solicited all of these trades in 15 customer 
accounts. Yellen was required to complete certain training regarding options orders prior 
to soliciting options trades. Yellen entered the options orders as unsolicited in order to 
bypass the firm systems that blocked him, due to his failure to complete options training, 
from entering an options order as solicited. 

By virtue of the foregoing, Respondent violated FINRA Rules 4511 and 2010. 

4. Reg S-P Violation 

Regulation S-P generally prohibits financial institutions from disclosing "nonpublic 
personal information" about a customer unless the customer receives proper notice and an 
opportunity to opt out. See 17 C.F.R. § 248.10. 

Information is considered to be "nonpublic personal information" if it contains personally 
identifiable financial information about one or more consumers, including: (1) 
information a consumer provides to a broker-dealer to obtain a financial product or 
service, (2) information about a consumer resulting from any transaction involving a 
financial product or service between a broker-dealer and a consumer, or (3) information a 
broker-dealer otherwise obtains about a consumer in connection with providing a 
financial product or service to that consumer. "Nonpublic personal information" 
includes, among other things, names, addresses, telephone numbers, social security 
numbers, birth dates, and account balances that are derived in whole or in part from 
information provided to a financial institution by a customer. 

A registered representative who discloses nonpublic personal information about a 
customer, and causes his or her broker-dealer to violate Regulation S-P, violates FINRA 
Rule 2010, which requires registered persons to observe high standards of commercial 
honor and just and equitable principles of trade. 

Prior to accepting an offer of employment from Ameriprise in March 2016, Yellen sent 
non-public personal information regarding his Morgan Stanley customers to his personal 
email account, in violation of firm policy and without the knowledge or consent of his 
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firm or any customer. The non-public personal information consisted of client account 
numbers, among other information. Upon becoming associated with Ameriprise, Yellen 
forwarded the information to his email account at Ameriprise without the knowledge or 
consent of his firm or any customer. Significantly, Yellen should have been aware of the 
impropriety of sending the information to his Ameriprise account, because Ameriprise's 
terms of transition specifically prohibited taking account numbers from a prior employer. 
As a consequence, Yellen caused Morgan Stanley to violate its obligations under 
Regulation S-P, resulting in Yellen's violation of FINRA Rule 2010. 

By virtue of the foregoing, Respondent violated FINRA Rule 2010. 

B. Respondent also consents to the imposition of the following sanctions: 

• A fine of $25,000; and 
• A one-year suspension from associating with any FINRA member in any 

capacity. 

The fine shall be due and payable either immediately upon reassociation with a member 
Firm, or prior to any application or request for relief from any statutory disqualification 
resulting from this or any other event or proceeding, whichever is earlier. 

Respondent specifically and voluntarily waives any right to claim an inability to pay, now 
or at any time hereafter, the monetary sanction imposed in this matter. 

Respondent understands that if he is barred or suspended from associating with any 
FINRA member, he becomes subject to a statutory disqualification as that term is defined 
in Article III, Section 4 of FINRA's By-Laws, incorporating Section 3(a)(39) of the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Accordingly, he may not be associated with any 
FINRA member in any capacity, including clerical or ministerial functions, during the 
period of the bar or suspension. See FINRA Rules 8310 and 8311. 

The sanctions imposed herein shall be effective on a date set by FINRA staff. 

II. 

WAIVER OF PROCEDURAL RIGHTS  

Respondent specifically and voluntarily waives the following rights granted under FINRA's 
Code of Procedure: 

A. To have a Complaint issued specifying the allegations against him; 

B. To be notified of the Complaint and have the opportunity to answer the 
allegations in writing; 
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C. To defend against the allegations in a disciplinary hearing before a hearing panel, 
to have a written record of the hearing made and to have a written decision issued; 
and 

D. To appeal any such decision to the National Adjudicatory Council (NAC) and 
then to the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission and a U.S. Court of 
Appeals. 

Further, Respondent specifically and voluntarily waives any right to claim bias or prejudgment 
of the Chief Legal Officer, the NAC, or any member of the NAC, in connection with such 
person's or body's participation in discussions regarding the terms and conditions of this AWC, 
or other consideration of this AWC, including acceptance or rejection of this AWC. 

Respondent further specifically and voluntarily waives any right to claim that a person violated 
the ex parte prohibitions of FINRA Rule 9143 or the separation of functions prohibitions of 
FINRA Rule 9144, in connection with such person's or body's participation in discussions 
regarding the terms and conditions of this AWC, or other consideration of this AWC, including 
its acceptance or rejection. 

OTHER MATTERS 

Respondent understands that: 

A. Submission of this AWC is voluntary and will not resolve this matter unless and 
until it has been reviewed and accepted by the NAC, a Review Subcommittee of 
the NAC, or the Office of Disciplinary Affairs (ODA), pursuant to FINRA Rule 
9216; 

B. If this AWC is not accepted, its submission will not be used as evidence to prove 
any of the allegations against the Respondent; and 

C. If accepted: 

1. this AWC will become part of Respondent's permanent disciplinary 
record and may be considered in any future action brought by FINRA or 
any other regulator against the Respondents; 

2. this AWC will be made available through FINRA's public disclosure 
program in accordance with FINRA Rule 8313; 

3. FINRA may make a public announcement concerning this agreement and 
the subject matter thereof in accordance with FINRA Rule 8313; and 
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4. Respondent may not take any action or make or permit to be made any 
public statement, including in regulatory filings or otherwise, denying, 
directly or indirectly, any finding in this AWC or create the impression 
that the AWC is without factual basis. Respondent may not take any 
position in any proceeding brought by or on behalf of FINRA, or to which 
FINRA is a party, that is inconsistent with any part of this AWC. Nothing 
in this provision affects Respondent's: (1) testimonial obligations; or (ii) 
right to take legal or factual positions in litigation or other legal 
proceedings in which FINRA is not a party. 

D. Respondent may attach a Corrective Action Statement to this AWC that is a 
statement of demonstrable corrective steps taken to prevent future misconduct. 
Respondent understands that he may not deny the charges or make any statement 
that is inconsistent with the AWC in this Statement. This Statement does not 
constitute factual or legal findings by FINRA, nor does it reflect the views of 
FINRA or its staff. 

Respondent certifies that he has read and understands all of the provisions of this AWC 
and has been given a full opportunity to ask questions about it. Respondent has agreed to 
the AWC's provisions voluntarily; and no offer, threat, inducement, or promise of any 
kind, other than the terms set forth herein and the prospect of avoiding the issuance of a 
Complaint, has been made to induce him to submit this AWC. 

/ - /7-  7 2' 
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Date Steven T. Yellen, Respond 

Reviewed by: 

Ross B. Intelisano, Esq. 
Counsel for Respondent 
Rich, Intelisano & Katz, LLP 
915 Broadway, Suite 900 
New York, New York 10010 



Accepted by FINRA: 

_October 22, 2019 Signed on behalf of the 
Date Director of ODA, by delegated authority 

FINRA Department of Enforcement 
1100 Poydras Street 
Energy Centre, Suite 850 
New Orleans, LA 70163-1108 
Phone: 504-412-2408 
Fax: 202-721-6525 

iton
t__ 

 

L ra Leigh ac , Senior Counsel 
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